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    Introduction




    Peace negotiations on the basis of a cease fire offer hope to opposing parties concerned to solve the conflict raging between them, usually a conflict gone out of proportion which, to avoid much bloodshed, casualties and deaths, has to come to an end. In the case of the Indo-Naga conflict, spanning over six decades and thus the longest running conflict of modern times, since the inception of India and Burma (now renamed to Myanmar) this conflict has been dragging on with no solution in sight. When after the realization of some Indian generals that ‘a military solution is not possible’ overtures for a cease fire began in 1995, it was hoped that the ceasefire, signed in 1997, would lead to an amicable solution for both sides. However, just like the war itself this process has proved to be long, dragging too, with no end in sight. Once full of expectations, good will and hard work, the stalling for time and scheming behind closed doors made the hope to solve the soured relationship between India erode; small things became big and insignificant things determined the talks. The real issues were avoided no matter how the Naga negotiators stressed importance after presenting their list of points the talks dragged on.




    This is in itself not remarkable after all looking in from the outside we see powerful India regarding the conflict as domestic thus successfully keeping the international community out of it. This the international community abides by because interfering would mean that their profitable economic ties with India would be in jeopardy. So, though the self proclaimed champions of human rights attend to their own problems rather than making a stand for the right to self determination of the Nagas. There is too much in it for these developed nations, they shun the risk of being ostracized by India. Thus the Naga Nation (Nagalim) is virtually unknown and with a relatively small population of approximately 4 million Nagas it is easily overlooked or passively determined as insignificant. However no matter how understandable it may be that the international community idly stands by this small and yet divided Nation, four Indian Sates as well as divided between India and Burma, but could be whipped to become active. As the stakes are now because of its isolation The Nagas are not known and what is not known cannot harm you is the predominant thought. So, there is not much assistance to be expected from the bodies of the international community like the United Nations or from Non Government Organizations because like the American Baptists in 1956 when the war was on in earnest and many people, predominantly civilians, were killed in obscurity, the Americans left when the Indians told them to leave Nagaland. And, like the international community stays away now, the American Baptist abandoned the Nagas then. So, the Nagas are on their own to fight off their invaders and occupiers. No doubt they have the Right to Self Determination on their side but a formidable, in size and number alone, and persistent occupier as their adversary. Hence it is sheer wonder the Nagas, in spite of all the schemes, plans and actions, to successfully divide them into factions and states have been able to hold up to the unimaginable; they held their ground to date. Because they could withstand that powerful Indian Army which with an estimated number of 200.000 soldiers is present in Nagaland since 1954, finally the Indian generals publicly admitted that a military solution is not possible unless all Nagas were annihilated. This military stalemate and the will to solve this long running conflict inevitably led to the ceasefire which paved the way to peace talks. Reviewing the proceedings of some sixty rounds of talks we observe that these negotiations have reached ritualistic proportions, but a solution is nowhere near. When the talks began three preconditions were formulated:




    They are to be held




    1 – In a third country




    2 – On the highest level




    3 – Unconditional




    These preconditions were not without meaning:




    First of all because the Nagas did not recognize India as their nation they obviously could not have Indian passports and since their Organization, the National Socialist Council of Nagaland (lim) was outlawed b y India, their leaders could be arrested any time and so they were out of India and already in a third country. Let’s leave aside how they arranged to travel anyway. So, in a third country they would not run the risk of being arrested and to their understanding the cease fire ground rules were between two nations.




    Secondly the Nagas insisted the talks to be held on the highest level, read the Prime Minister of India, and so they would only talk to him or to his special envoy or interlocutor as they Indians termed their negotiator.




    Lastly the talks had to be unconditional which meant recognizing not only it was between two nations but also that they were not to be held under the constitution of India, which was something that cropped up quite a few times during the course of the successive talks anyway.




    Thus on the basis of the ceasefire teams of negotiators were formed representing both nations but from the onset of the talks, though ground rules for the ceasefire were part of the cease fire agreement, were interpreted differently. Consequently the first rounds of talks were focused on the fine tuning the ground rules. Coupled with that it was soon found out that the Ceasefire Monitoring Group, also comprised of both Nagas and Indians, had no teeth for it could not properly investigate ceasefire violations reported by either side to have been committed. The Armed Forces Special Powers Act prevented this. On the basis of this Act (1956) the Armed Forces of India cannot be held accountable for what they do. No reported misbehaviour can be impartially investigated.




    This dreaded and anti democracy Act was contested in court by the Naga Peoples Movement for Human Rights but their plea was sadly rejected, even though it took the courts more than 10 years to come to that decision. Though the real talks eventually began still more than a decade later this Ceasefire Monitoring Group still faces cease fire violations which cannot be properly addressed and recently the Nagas walked out of it because the Indian side




    Though it must be said that the successive Governments of India genuinely sought an amicable solution to the long term conflict which began in earnest when the Indian troops invaded and occupied the Naga Homeland, the practicalities of wanting to incorporate the Nagas into India for good proved to be prevalent among the Indian rulers. Many a time the Indian negotiators showed themselves to be oblivious about the strong feelings which, rooted in Naga history, had had far reaching colonial implications. The Indian thinking was rather simple and straightforward; the Nagas should comply and negotiate a settlement within the constitution of the Union of India.




    To leading nations in the world today this is nothing short of understandable. When the colonial powers had finished the decolonization process they took their hands off their former colonies and the problems these powers had caused were now seen as the problems of the new but now independent, sovereign nations. But can the former colonial powers be absolved from any responsibility, accountability for problems soon leading to conflicts throughout the world?




    In the case of the Nagas this leaves to be seen and it also depends on what side of the fence one reasons from: the former colonial administrator, or the Naga point of view. . We can be pretty certain that in other post colonial cases and conflicts where the right to self determination is concerned similar predicaments play a prominent role.




    Before focusing in detail on the Indo Naga conflict a few other long term conflicts with similar basic presumption on the international level are reviewed here:




    The case of West Papua and the Netherlands; the United Nations as well as the USA are the accountable parties:




    Even though the Netherlands fought a small war over the claim of Indonesia, emerged but former colony of the Netherlands, it eventually did succumb to pressure from the United States of America for the United Nations to conduct a referendum. With this referendum the Papuan peoples could choose to be part of Indonesia or to be independent. Seven years after the Act of Free Choice millions of migrants had arrived to take up residence in West Papua, either through the their own initiative or encouraged by the Indonesian Government. When the referendum took place it was not held among the Papuan populace but under selected leaders who under pressure unequivocally chose to be part of Indonesia, but the people felt they were sold out. The Drooglever report shows the Dutch role in this and the United Nations did not feel the responsibility to check upon the fairness of the referendum. Hence the Papuan people and their rich and bountiful land became then officially internationally known as part of the Republic of Indonesia. Still the people though no country or other people cared about their right to self determination carried on their uneven struggle. The Indonesian Army took possession over the land and began to brutally extinguish opposition to the State.




    Most peoples, nations, who are members of UNPO, are going through similar rituals of self indulgence of post colonial powers.




    In the Philippines most indigenous peoples are being driven off their land and on the basis of their pre colonial customary ancestral rights, fight in words and sometimes with weapons against an overwhelming majority. The public consensus internationally comes to the idea that it is all in the past and the peoples there are backward and can only benefit when they comply with the policies of the government which represents the majority.




    In Burma we see the Burmans ruling and even over their peoples the military junta rules with an iron fist. The peoples like Karen, Chin, Arakanese, Shan, Mon, Chin and Nagas do not want to have anything to do with this Burmese Government but the brutal Army subdues all of them.




    In Taiwan too there is a predicament about the indigenous peoples. Of course the Taiwanese themselves came from China but not the peoples who, now quite overruled by the Kuomintang headed then by Chang Kay Check, they are living a marginal existence but like to have their rights effectuated too.




    Malaysia has Sabah and Sarawak and though primarily indigenous and now part of the Federation Malaysia, after some political struggling where in Sabah the Kadazan/Dusun had a very hard time, they are on paper able to govern their own state within the federation, but in practice play second fiddle or third fiddle. Still, this is something of an achievement.




    Due to circumstances beyond their own control or that of Indonesia former member of the UNPO East Timor, once a colony of Portugal but invaded and taken over by Indonesia, the Timorese were freed. Sealed off from the world for quite some time, only after Australians tourists and journalists could report on a massacre in the capital Dili the world began to intervene into what the oppressor Indonesia was doing against the Timorese people. Of course the Timorese had their own army but to defend themselves and to make sure not all and everywhere the Indonesians could do as they pleased, not to attack Indonesia itself.




    In Africa but also in South America and North America similar situations among peoples exist. One prime example of course we see when we look at Amazonia and the peoples there who are being robbed of their habitat, or in Canada where the Inuit have been able after political fights to come up with some sort of autonomy. But also in the United States of America where many peoples, so called Native Americans have been confined to reservations in which they can live their own cultural lives provided there is nothing in the soil which has value to the State.




    In the Arabic world from the Berbers of Morocco to as far as Pakistan’s Kashmir there are peoples who have never agreed to be part of the nations they are in


  




  

    Chapter one: The background of the Indo – Naga Conflict in brief




    Back to the turbulent Northeast of India, the so-called chicken neck, which like an appendix, stretches all the way to Bangladesh in the south, Burma to the East and China to the North. This relatively unknown Northeast of India, but for its Assam tea, is rich in diversity of its indigenous peoples. Those peoples do not share history, culture, religion or any other matter with the people of mainstay India. Travelling through their lands we come across at least some twenty peoples like the Kashi, the Karbis, the Mizo’s, the Tripuri and the Meitei to name just a few. Quite a number have their own names, just like the Nagas are comprised of some 40 tribes, but originate from the Boro stock. These are the Mech, Dimasa, the Koch and others.




    The Nagas however from the inception of the Union of India and even before that told both the British and the Indians that they did not want to be part on that new to be formed nation. Already in 1929 when the British Simon Commission to assess the future of India the Nagas, loud and clear, told that commission they wanted to be left alone once the British had left for good. So, the Nagas wanted to return to their ways of governing themselves. When decolonization did take place the Naga People thought that their wishes were known in Britain. Since Sri Lanka, then Ceylon, Burma and Pakistan were carved out of the British India to become independent nations, the Nagas were practically sure they would be able to shape their independent nation too.




    Mahatma Gandhi honored their wishes too when they visited him but cautioned the Nagas he is quoted to have said that ‘since Indians fought the British to become free of colonialism and domination, so Nagas have every right to be free to determine their own future’. Gandhi promised the Naga delegation he would defend that right of the Nagas with his life. But the tide turned and Gandhi was assassinated. The Nagas took Gandhi’s advice and declared Nagaland independent a day ahead of India by way of a cable to the United Nations. Meanwhile the pressure to join the Union of India grew rapidly. The first Prime Minister Jawaharlal Nehru tried very hard persuading the Nagas. During his visit to Kohima, Nagaland to meet with Prime Minister U NU of Burma, the Nagas asked to talk to him. When Nehru declined but wanted to address the Naga crowd in Kohima ground, the Nagas present there decided to walk out on him en masse and he proved to be unsuccessful. With U NU Nehru decided on the border and the demarcation between India and Burma, but did not talk to the Nagas leaders. Although at first the Nagas welcomed Nehru warmly he did not accept any Naga representation and so left him to address just a few people, mainly Government servants, non Nagas, and their families. As a consequence an infuriated Nehru felt insulted. Back in Delhi he is quoted to have exclaimed: “when heaven falls and India goes to pieces and the rivers run red with blood, I will never let the Nagas go free.’ He launched the Indian Army to invade Nagaland and said ‘I will crush the Nagas in a day.’ In 1950 when the Union of India was formed the Nagas were invited to join; instead they repeated what they said to the Simon Commission that ‘they wanted to be left to themselves’. So they declined the invitation and did not attend the constituent assembly, but instead stressed that Nagaland was never part of India.




    When the war began, in 1954 in earnest, the Indian troops occupied the land of the Nagas. In reaction the Nagas built up their machinery of resistance which became the Naga Army under the command of the Naga National Council. The Indians suspected the American Baptist missionaries to be the instigators of the Nags resistance and, true or not, in 1956 ordered the Americans to leave the country. Rather than standing by their brothers and sisters in faith who were now in dire straits, they left to comply with the Indian order.




    At the time the British did not feel compelled to tell the Indian Government that the Nagas should be led to their own independence. They were after a strong relationship with the new and now independent India and so they acted as though they were dealing with a sovereign nation with its internal affairs of which they had nothing to do with. This was difficult to understand for the people whom they had governed against their will. A special note should be made here concerning the British; they never actually colonized and administered the entire Homeland of the Nagas, just less than one third of it. The rest was called ‘un-administered’ areas of Free Nagas. So, sharply this question rises: how could the British actually hand over something to this emerging Indian Nation when it had no colonial jurisdiction over it? After all they themselves called these Naga areas un-administered areas of the Free Nagas. Now, when they regarded these Nagas Free, reaching all the way and into the Sagaing District of Burma, now called Myanmar, up to the Chindwin River or approximately two/thirds of all Naga ancestral lands. So, how could these vast areas have been handed to India when they did not belong to colonial Britain? As a result of this negligence alone some 50 years of incessant war of occupation followed. Does this feat not call for some post colonial accountability of the British, the erstwhile colonial rulers of the land?




    To appease some Naga elite, together forming the NPC, who did not believe an independent Nagaland could survive, Nagaland State, 1963, was created The Indians hoped that this gesture would be enough to end the war. But he Naga National Council was not amused. Its leaders were against this 16 point agreement between the NPC and the Indian State, because sovereignty was the right of the Nagas. Yet, in spite of their objection Nagaland State, a fraction only of the Naga areas as a whole, was carved out during the war with. The Nagas with their vested interests began their rule within the constitution of India. Because the war took many lives and many Nagas suffered under the severe and ruthless pressure of the Indians a cease fire was agreed upon in 1964. Unfortunately the initiated peace talks which followed stranded and the war resumed.




    From the inception of the Union of India, even before that, it was the Nagas who told the British and Indians alike that they did not want to be part of the to be formed nation of India. Already in 1929 during the visit of the Simon Commission a Naga delegation told the British loud and clear that they wanted to be left alone after they have left. So, when decolonization took place the Naga People believed that in Britain this was known too. Since Sri Lanka, then Ceylon, Burma and Pakistan were carved out of the British Indian Empire surely the same would happen to the Nagas too. They wanted their nation to become independent too




    Mahatma Gandhi honoured the wishes of the Nagas too when they visited him and he is quoted to have said that since Indians fought the British to become free of colonialism and domination, so Nagas have every right to be free to determine their own future. Gandhi promised the Naga delegation which had come to see him then that he would defend that right of the Nagas with his life. But the tide turned and once India had become independent just one day after the Naga Nation declared its independence, in a cable sent to the United Nations, the pressure to join the Union of India grew fast. The first Prime Minister Jawaharlal Nehru took the initiative to persuade the Nagas. When he proved to be unsuccessful as was shown in a meeting with U NU of Burma in Nagaland the Nagas asked to talk to him but he declined. Nehru wanted to address the people in Kohima but those Nagas decided to walk out on him for thought among other things spoke with U NU about the border demarcation between the two countries, he did not want to talk to the Nagas. Nagas welcomed him warmly. Representation of any kind of Nagas would not be accepted. Nehru felt that as an insult and was infuriated by the walk out. He is quoted to have said when back in Delhi: “when heaven falls and India goes to pieces and the rivers run red with blood, I will never let the Nagas go.’ Also just before he launched the Indian Army to invade Nagaland he said ‘I will crush the Nagas in days.’ In 1950 the Union of India was formed and the Nagas were invited, but they declined the invitation. They did not attend the constituent assembly. They said then Nagas and their land were never part of India. In 1954 the war began when Indian troops occupied the land of the Nagas and slowly the Nagas built up a machinery of resistance, the Naga Army. The war was in full operation when the Indian suspected the American Baptist missionaries to be the instigators of the Nags resistance. True or not, in 1956 India ordered the Americans to leave the country. Rather than standing by their brothers and sisters in faith who were now in dire straits, they left and complied with the Indian order.




    The British too did not feel compelled to tell the Indian Government at the time that the Nagas should be led to their own independence but with a strong relationship with India. The British acted like they had never had anything to do with the people they once governed against their will. A special note should be made about the British who never actually colonized and administered the entire Homeland of the Nagas, but just less than one third of it. So, the question rises on how the British actually could hand over something to emerging Indian when they had no colonial jurisdiction over it, after all they themselves called this the un-administered areas or the areas of the Free Nagas. Now when they called the Nagas there Free and they reached all the way for at least one third of the land in what now is called Myanmar, all those areas are not in any way handed over by the British and should be free.




    Some 50 years of incessant war of occupation followed during with both out of Assam a Nagaland State, 1963, was carved out to appease some of the Nagas with vested interests and a cease fire was reached, 1964. The peace talks which were initiated stranded and the war resumed.




    Today after the last round of talks where from the Indian side the gauntlet has been thrown, the threat the war resumes again is once more vivid. What they did do?




    The Indian side after agreeing to discuss the ‘Framework for the New Relationship’, like the Nagas agreed to discuss this yet highly confidential paper and after a paper which focused on taking away misunderstandings which could rise from the points mentioned in it came with a non paper of their own. It was called a non paper because it was not yet accepted by both parties and thus a proposal. In this non paper the Indians stated the solution had to be found within the constitution of India and the points up for discussion would be the basis of the frame work for the new relationship.




    This, considering nine years and many rounds of talks, was unacceptable to the Nagas and they rejected it outright. Back to square one and now with nothing to go on it is up to the Indians to come up with proposals that are acceptable to the Nags negotiators. It is like one of them said: “for fifty years we have been talking, fighting and negotiating and the only thing that is clear to the Indians is that we agree to be part of India by way of accepting the Indian Constitution. We cannot do that. We have our history.”




    This is what was said to the Indian side to and what was added cut wood with a vengeance: “We have our history and so you have yours. Remember the battle of Plassey, West Bengol, one of the last battles the Indians fought against the British? Your history shows that the Indians fought for three hours before they surrendered to the British. Do you know how long we fought against the British? Do you know how long we fought against India? “




    The two sides parted on notes like this but the most important thing was the implicit conclusion about the initiatives for further talking laid with the British. The Nagas had come a long way and took many steps to work out a new relationship, unique perhaps, but with remarkable resilience and with an eye for showing themselves as a party which is capable of thinking creatively about solutions that would do both justice, India and Nagaland alike. When in June 2006 on BBC’s hard talk Th. Muivah stated:




    ‘Solution within the Indian Union and constitution is simply not possible and not acceptable,’ one cannot but conclude that the Indian side is not well prepared to conduct talks which would have to lead to peace. To come up in October 2006 with, on the basis of the Framework for the New Relationship’, the dictate of this Framework within the constitution of India, the Nagas had no other option but to reject it outright, even though the next four clauses were addressing to most of what the Nagas hold dearly.




    The Nagas on the other hand did think oppositely, like they clarified in the paper mentioned which they handed to the Indian side and was rejected by the Indians, and showed that all to be discussed and negotiated would be on the basis of two separate constitutions and would be recognized by both. The constitution of the Nagas would cater for all Naga Affairs and so where the Indian constitution would not conflict with the Naga one these articles could be incorporated into it. So, though this way a federation in the unique sense would emerge and would be in many ways complimentary, the identity and jurisdiction to determine their own future of the Nagas would be safeguarded. So, in short the Nagas wanted to create a good and intimate relationship with India, but it would prefer to remain independent, while India would like to grant as much as it good to the Nagas concerning self governance and much more but only when the constitution was embraced.




    Yet, it will not grant the Nagas self governance in their own nation; it does now want the Naga People to shape a sovereign country of their own. This is why they talk while stalling for time and under the table prop up adversaries of those whom they talk to; adversaries they have created themselves by way of propping renegades up with funds and weapons. This is how the NNC is alive today and the Khaplang Group is still creating havoc and confusion among the Nagas, while the forces of the NSCN, the Partner of India in the talks, have nothing much to do but to lay in waiting. Yet they have to be alert because the occupying forces are not restive: they wheel and deal and sometimes, due to being not very disciplined, commit crimes which the Cease Fire Monitoring Group cannot investigate because the Armed Forces Special Powers Act prevents anyone from holding the Armed Forces of India and their affiliates like the Assam Rifles accountable for there deeds and wrongdoings.




    So, how could India be so successful in dividing the Nagas both in territory and between themselves? And, why is it that now newly formed states which harbour parts of Nagalim are so adamant against reunification of all Naga areas and so the Naga Peoples?




    To understand this fully, history plays an omnipotent role: From the Indian side the gauntlet has finally been thrown; the Government of India during the last round of talks in Delhi promised to come up with an ‘interim proposal. Failing to do so, as it did in the subsequent Amsterdam talks, equals the statement of factually drawing its sword against the Nagas once again as it threatens to resume the war. What did they do during these last talks?




    The Indian side after agreeing to discuss the ‘Framework for the New Relationship’ a highly confidential paper, a paper which focused on eliminating misunderstandings came with a non-paper of their own. It was called non paper because accepted yet by both parties and so a proposal. In this non paper the Indians stated the solution had to be found within the constitution of India and the points up for discussion would be the basis of the frame work for the new relationship. This, considering more than ten years and many rounds of talks, was unacceptable to the Nagas and they rejected it outright. Back to square one again they were and with nothing to go on it was up to the Indian side to come up with proposals acceptable to the Nags negotiators. Like one of them said:




    “For fifty years we have been talking, fighting and negotiating and the only thing that is clear to the Indians is that we will agree to be part of India by way of accepting the Indian Constitution. We cannot do that. We have our history.”




    What was added cut wood with a vengeance too:




    “We have our history and so you have yours. Remember the battle of Plassey, West Bengol, one of the last battles India fought against the British? Your history shows that the Indians fought for three hours before surrendering to the British. Do you know how long we fought against the British? Do you know how long we fought against India? “




    The two sides parted on notes like this and the most important conclusion was the initiative for further talks had to be on the basis of recognizing what the British did. The Nagas had come a long way and painstakingly had taken steps to work out a new relationship. Unique steps perhaps, but remarkable resilience was shown and as a party capable of thinking creatively about solutions doing justice to India and Nagaland alike. When in June 2006 on BBC’s hard talk Th. Muivah stated:




    ‘Solution within the Indian Union and constitution is simply not possible and not acceptable,’ one cannot but conclude that the Indian side is not well prepared to conduct talks which would have to lead to peace. To come up in October 2006 with, on the basis of the Framework for the New Relationship’, the dictate of this Framework within the constitution of India, the Nagas had no other option but to reject it outright, even though the next four clauses were addressing to most of what the Nagas hold dearly.




    The Nagas on the other hand did think oppositely. Like they clarified in the paper mentioned, handed to the Indian side and rejected, all to be discussed and negotiated would be on the basis of two separate constitutions and the recognition of both by both. The constitution of the Nagas would cater for all Naga Affairs and so where the Indian constitution would not conflict with the Naga Constitution these articles could be incorporate. So, though this way a unique federation would emerge and would be in many ways complimentary; the Naga identity and jurisdiction to determine their own future would be safeguarded. In short the Nagas wanted to create a good and intimate relationship with India, but Nagaland would be independent. India, concerning self governance and more, in turn wanted to grant as much as it could to the Nagas but only when they embraced the Indian Constitution As India does not want the Naga People to shape a sovereign country of their own, not right now anyway, self governance is not discussed either. This is why the Indian side talks while stalling for time. While under the table they are busily propping up adversaries of the Naga negotiators which they created by way of funds and weapons to discontented Nagas with self interest who became renegades. This is how they kept Shillong Accord people of NNC alive today as well as the Khaplang Group. Primarily the Khaplang group still creates havoc and confusion among the Nagas, while the forces of the NSCN, the Partner of India in the talks, during ceasefire are practically idle as they have nothing much to do but to train and be on the alert for the occupying forces are not resting. Instead they wheel and deal and due to lack of discipline, commit crimes. The Cease Fire Monitoring Group has its hands tied because of the Armed Forces Special Powers Act which prevents the Armed Forces of India and their affiliates like the Assam Rifles to be held accountable for what they do wrong.




    So, India has been successful in dividing and ruling, territory and themselves, but has not been able to separate the Nagas. And, why is it that now newly formed states, which harbour parts of Nagalim, are so adamant against reunification of all Naga areas and so administrative reunification of the Naga Peoples?


  




  

    Chapter two: To get behind the motivations of the leaders of these states as well as the emergence of Nagaland State itself we have to consult History.




    From the Naga History it is evident that the Naga Peoples organically had nothing to do with the Indian subcontinent. They had no trade relations or were in touch by other modes of communication. Only because the British partially incorporated the Nagas and their lands they are now part of the Union of India. Also, the Nagas have no Cultural, Religious, Linguistic or Historical relations or affinities with India; in fact they only traded and communicated with their surrounding peoples. And so it was the British who made them part of their South Asian, their Indian Empire.




    Though the Nagas submitted their 31 points program for honourable solution years ago so far the Government of India only agreed to one of the points, one considered to be a milestone for the Naga Peoples as a nation. Because it confirms their stand and it is the basis for their desire to be sovereign; through this point ‘the unique history and situation’ as it was put in writing the Nagas were recognized by the Indian side. It officially meant the right to self determination was de facto acknowledged and thus for the Nagas this recognition opened the way to real and now amicable negotiations on the kind of relationship between the two nations. The hopes of the Nagas vanished into thin air again when the new Congress Government was installed. Though the BJP Government signed the communiqué on ‘unique history and situation’ it did not follow up on it and could not because unexpectedly the Congress Government rose to power when snap elections called for by a buoyant BJP was lost by that party.




    Thinking this would make the Nagas sail easier through the peace process, as back in 1995 it was under the Congress Government that the secret talks for a ceasefire were held and concluded with its signing in 1997, proved to be a little too premature. Still, because of the recognition of the unique history questions like this were on many a Naga mind and lips: “Could this new Congress Government live up to expectations? Would it indeed strive for the honourable solution so dearly wished by the Naga Civil Society? Would the Indian military leave Nagaland any time soon?”




    At the time of this hope rising and hidden from public view other forces were at work, forces with had only one aim in mind, the successful aim of the Indian Intelligence Services. It was their aim to disrupt the unity of the Nagas so resistance would fracture. The Nagas on the other hand, instead of using their intelligence to promote their cause internationally, but applied resources and time to stamp out dissension, this way attempting to prevent the Naga society from being confused about who did what, for what purpose but also to show who really represents them.




    





    To understand this huge divide and rule project again History is the important factor.




    When today Naga Organizations claim to represent the Nagas it would suffice to check their credentials against their historical record. So, when the Naga National Council states it is the only true Naga Organization to represent all Nagas one has to remember the Shillong Accord of 1975 and its implications and repercussions before considering it to be a true representative. And so this question unavoidably rises: What is this Shillong Accord. Who instigated it and what did it lead to?




    This Accord between India and the Naga National Council signed by some Federal Government members, among which Kevi Yallay, the brother of the NNC president who as an exile lived in London but was very much the president of the NNC, sealed the fate of the Nagas. It stipulated that the Accord had been reached voluntarily and that it was ‘under the Constitution of India’. Though this infamous Shillong Accord was not ratified by the NNC as a whole and A.Z. Phizo did not confirm it either, disarming of the Naga Army was ordered and militia were launched to effectuate disarmament; peace camps were built to house the Naga soldiers who surrendered their arms. One such camp exists to this day.




    High ranking NNC leaders were enraged by the signing of the Shillong Accord; they termed it ‘a total sell out’, a total surrender. Some NNC leaders learned about this news while on a mission in China and denounced this Accord but pleaded with Phizo, their supreme leader, to denounce it too. He did not but later in London is quoted to have said that it was ‘a political game’ being played. Realizing the danger disunity could spawn they wanted to save the NNC and for five years worked on that before they founded it’s successor the National Council of Nagaland, NSCN. In between 1975 and 1980 the militias persecuted anyone who disobeyed the order handing in weapons, arrested those who were unwilling and worse killed them. NNC leaders like Isak Chishi Swu and TH. Muivah, who denounced the Shillong Accord, were also arrested and held captive in a remote area. Held captive by their own people and being threatened with death, they were ordered to dig their own graves, made these NNC leaders realize that the first major schism in the ranks of the Nagas was unavoidable. This fact could only be averted when their captors, called by them Accordists, retraced their steps to denounce the Accord too. They did not, though only years and decades later some signatories, one even on his deathbed, did so. This schism in the ranks of the Nagas festered and still permeates through all political activities. That schism is still an open wound today, its puss influencing the state of affairs.




    Though the Indians masterminded the Shillong Accord to their surprise it had far more consequences than they ever anticipated. Their planned schism in Naga Society was now fact; divide and rule worked; it had worked even all the way to those who were the backbone of the NNC. The Indian Intelligence knew then that only through a revolution against the leadership of the NNC, read Phizo, could the Naga stand be saved and the national issue be salvaged. In the sixties already the Indians tried to separate the Nagas by letting those who were in favour of a Naga settlement under the constitution but with a state of their own call the shots. The Naga Peoples Council then backed up the forming of Nagaland State which was carved out of Assam and separated Nagas now living in the other new states in the Northeast of India like Arunachal Pradesh, the remainder of Assam itself and of course Manipur. Nagaland State in 1963 was born with Naga state politicians elected by the people. Elected? Officially yes, but unofficially the practice of corruption was born too and so state politicians bought votes to gain influence and money later which was being poured in by the Government of India. Corruption was another way of divide and rule, intelligence services knew.




    After the first political division of Nagaland into Nagaland State, under the constitution of India, the Shillong Accord and the National Socialist Council of Nagaland took up the struggle where the Nagas of NNC had left off. For years, eight to be precise, the new Naga Forces gained strength, while behind the scenes the divide and rule gaming went on unabated. In 1988, the NSCN split into two. Khaplang, until then part of the NSCN, revolted with a coup and formed his own NSCN. From then on till this day there are two rival NSCN’s




    Now the question was in what way the divide and rule policy of the Indians was at work in this internal struggle. Was it because Khaplang suspected but did not know that the leaders of the NSCN without him had reached an accord with the Indians and he revolted against that? According to him, yes indeed. According to Isak Chishi Swu and Th. Muivah this was utter nonsense, the opposite was the case and it involved a participant in the formation of Nagaland State, the later Chief Minister S.C. Jamir. Jamir who had long before stated that to be within the Union of India would be the best option for the Nagas moved heaven and earth, with the eminent help of the Indians, to crack down on the Naga Forces and found in Khaplang an ally. But why would Khaplang oblige? Khaplang was dissatisfied with his position in the NSCN. As a renowned leader among his own Eastern Nagalanders, who had a different heritage of leadership compared to most other Naga tribes, could not abide by the rules of the revolutionary Government he agreed, not even when this was necessary for the formation of a Naga Nation. Democratic principles were alien to him because he came from a tribe, Pangmi, closely associated to Konyaks, which leaders ruled supremely. He was above critique and so with the Eastern Command under his wing, he did what he felt like doing. When called for an NSCN meeting in Eastern Nagaland for which the other leaders had travelled wide and, under the guise of darkness he attacked their camp and killed many NSCN men instantly, many more survivors of this treacherous attack were on the run for safety, his men in persecution. Th. Muivah among then narrowly escaped the onslaught. That Khaplang could do this was made possible by S.C. Jamir who had command over the Assam Rifles and access to funding all kinds of operations. S.C. Jamir in the hands of the Indians masterminded Khaplang’s moves and so it was the Indians once more who were able to disunite the Nagas. Though they thought, 1988, the Nagas were beaten for good; they had to learn the hard way that united Nagas do not easily give up. Consequently, after 1988 the war went on and while Khaplang frustrated the initiatives of the NSCN, those who frustrated by the hardships and sacrifices the NSCN required of them became renegades and defected to Khaplang, Yet the NSCN grew stronger nevertheless and the Government of India realized that this was the force to deal with for a solution and decided to seek a ceasefire.




    Looking back on this background while reviewing the Peace Talks one cannot but conclude that the Government of India talks with a split tongue: officially, so on the table it speaks of an honourable solution through peaceful means while under it it is working works hard to frustrate that goal.




    The last round of talks in Amsterdam from 7 to 9 December is a shining example of this. With the NSCN-Khaplang nexus on the table the talks the Indians avoided talking of a future relationship again. This was remarkable if not symptomatic and significant and because during the former talks in Delhi, the same representatives of the Prime Minister of India announced that, during the next talks in Amsterdam, they would come up with an interim proposal. Though they did not elaborate on what this ‘interim proposal’ would be, the Nagas knew that any proposal to solve the conflict has to begin with the first step. That first step had to undo what has been done to the Nagas, in other words the first step to reunify Naga areas which were so harshly separated by states and countries.




    “Yet”, said Th. Muivah in an interview preceding the Amsterdam talks, “we understand the predicament the Indians. They have their opposition to deal with and these are like hawks. On the other hand elections are near so the Congress Government likes to live up to its promises and by settling the Naga conflict once and for all, they score. But then, this government is weak, it does not dare to take decisions with far reaching implications. This Government is afraid; it has no backbone, so I would not be surprised if their first step regarding this interim proposal is to allow the Nagas in other states than Nagaland to have more autonomy. They are right too in that case, because if they do that, it is a good sign. It means they are serious with us. They will have to go against the interests of the states who incidentally have no rights to our land, like we have no right to the land of other peoples living in Manipur, Arunachal Pradesh and Assam. So, when they see that as an interim proposal we will say yes, but as a first step to an honourable solution.”




    Stalling for time to wear out the Nagas, or a genuine discomfort on how to solve this conflict without angering anyone: opposition, the states concerned especially Manipur which rose violently over a minor snag in the ceasefire?




    “The Government of India cannot be but insincere. We understand that but we cannot tolerate indefinite stalling. So, I have told them again about Naga History and what this could mean should there be no resort than resume the war. I said to them: the Nagas will never give up, no matter how much money you pour in getting at those who will ‘temporarily’ support you. Ask your Naga supporters whom you pay what they will choose in the end: will they choose for India or will they choose to be independent?” I asked them. “They were silent but said that they needed more time to work out the interim proposal they had promised and they apologized.”




    That the Indians find it hard to come up with anything at all is quite obvious, considering their true nature was blatantly exposed when they were thinking of an extension of the ceasefire between them and the Boros of Assam. The Indians first wanted the Boros to sign an agreement with the precondition of the talks to be held ‘within the Indian constitution, secondly and thirdly they accused the National Democratic Front of Boroland, NDFB of being the instigator of the Bangla-Boro clashes in Udailguri leaving close to a hundred people dead and of the serial bomb blasts in places in Assam. Mounting pressure bestowed on a People similar in heritage and aspiration as the Nagas meant that the Government of India does not bow to seek solution but only solution of its own making. And, effectively this means stop talking and sign to be part of India.




    Consequently, unless in the foreseeable future the Government of India comes up with any kind of ‘Interim Proposal, the future of India and Nagaland will be one of bloodshed and as a consequence the whole of the Northeast will be burning. Only this time around it is not possible for India to keep the full blown conflict secret, not this time. With many communication means available, the rest of the world will know of the suppression resulting in genocide being conducted. The Nagas will fight for their cultural and personal survival and will be spreading news on atrocities committed, atrocities like the ones during the fifties and sixties only very old Nagas can still talk about.




    In conclusion, the Indo-Naga Peace Process has been one of the Giant and the Mouse talking and though the Giant now knows what the mouse is going through it cannot and will not grant it the freedom the mouse so dearly desires. If up to the Government of India nothing will change and so eventually the Nagas, when they have nothing, are pressed to accept anything the Government of India is willing to hand to them. Why? Though the Naga Leaders are getting old they are yet vibrant. Is India banking on the time their seemingly eternal life comes to and end? Is it banking on the next generation of leaders being less competent? Indians may think those men and women may lack the charisma and credibility of the old leaders. Meanwhile and waiting patiently it is scheming behind the backs of the Naga leaders. They pour in money to destabilize and confuse. They supply weapons to adversaries to oppress their own and so the Assam rifles and Indian military can blame it all on the Naga infighting.




    Legitimate remarks perhaps, but of no significance if the Nagas can make stronger impact on the Government of India, when they could apply more substantive clout. How they can do that? How can a mouse put pressure on an elephant?




    One mouse cannot, but when thousands of mice turn up the situation is bound to change dramatically; when thousands become millions no elephant will sustain. It will have to bow down and run. But first let’s review the History


  




  

    Chapter three- History




    1820-21 Drawing attention




    The Ava (Burmese) Kingdom occupied three Hindu Kingdoms, Ahom, Cachar (they now form part of Assam) and Manipur (Imphal Valley) in the neighborhood of Nagaland/Nagalim, with mass slaughter and slave taking. Naga villages sheltered thousands of Manipuris for over five years.




    “…The valley of Munnipore occupies nearly the centre. It is called by the Munniporees, ‘Meithei-leipak’, Maj. W. McCulloch. The word “leipak” is Meithei word for “land”. The term “Meithei” also written as “Meitei” is synonymous with “Manipuri” (Prof. N. Tombi Singh: Manipur- A Study; Rajesh Printing Press, New Delhi 1972). Thus, “Meithei-leipak” literally means, “ Manipuri-land”. The pre-British Manipur Kingdom was located at Kangla in the “Imphal Valley” now better known as “Manipur valley”.




    Maj. W. McCulloch Political Agent of Munnipore: Accounts of Munnipore Valley… (Calcutta, Bengal Printing Company Ltd., 1859)




    





    1826 British arrival




    British India drove out the Burmese from Ahom and Cachar. Under the Treaty of Yandabo, Burma relinquished all her claims over these kingdoms and withdrew to the Irrawaddy Plains. While Assam and Cachar were made part of the Bengal Presidency, Manipur was listed among the ‘Princely Indian States’ of British colony. Britain developed a vague concept of their sphere of interests over the lands of the Nagas, Chins, Akhas, Daflas, Kashis,… lands that lay beyond the borders of the kingdoms of Ahom, Cachar, Manipur, Burma and China. The limits of this “sphere of interests” was described as “the presumptive Indo-Burma frontier which,… has never been defined let alone demarcated,” by Foreign Office, London, in a confidential report, 7th March 1950. However, it became the basis of drawing international boundary lines passing through the lands of the Nagas and the others when British departed from South Asia.




    





    1827 with abundant supply of arms from the British, Manipuris began to intrude into Nagalim to loot and destroy villages




    1832 British India began direct invasion of Nagalim.




    1840 – 45 Introduction of W. McCulloch’s Policy Planting Kuki Settlements on “exposed frontiers”, arming Kuki nomads with guns to destroy Naga villages.




    





    1845 – 80 Invasion of Nagalim




    British India, with abundant manpower supply from their Hindu allies, repeatedly invaded villages in Nagalim.




    British took control of a substantial number of Naga villages covering approximately a third of Nagalim and attached them to Assam and Manipur. However, British Nagaland remained under the Foreign Department of Colonial India throughout the British rule. Neither the Provincial Assembly of Assam nor Durbar of the Indian Princely State of Manipur had authority over Nagaland. The Traditional Naga Village Council continued as the only legitimate/representative authority throughout Nagaland. This was in recognition of the fundamental differences underlying the social and cultural practices between Hindu and Naga societies, differences being the Naga of communal egalitarian social structure in sharp contrast to the stratified caste system of Hindu society.




    





    1892 British Political Agent replaced the Manipuri King as the President of Manipur Durbar, marking the beginning of direct control of Manipur by Britain. However, the Naga-areas in Manipur, referred to as “tribal areas”, remained excluded from the control of the Durbar. “Manipur State, of course, has its own tribal areas excluded from the administration of the Durbar, and most of these tribes would prefer not to come under the direct control of the Durbar as yet”, reported F.C. Bourne, Governor of Assam, 6th June 1946.




    





    1921 The Indian Home Rule Act, 1919, classified the Naga areas in Assam as “Backward Areas” of Naga Hills district and remained outside the purview of the Assam Provincial Assembly set up under the said Act.




    





    1929 10 January 1929, the Naga Club ,in a memorandum told the British Indian Statutory Commission, called “The Simon Commission”, that the Nagas would not join India when the British departed, they should be left to live on their own, independent of others, as they were before the colonization.




    





    1935 The Government of India Act 1935 declared the Naga Hills (“Backward Areas”) as an “Excluded Area”, meaning outside the purview of Assam Province. The Act divided the British colony in the sub-continent into “British India” and “British Burma”.




    The other Naga areas on which India has subsequently laid claim including Tuensang and Mon areas (made part of Nagaland State in 1964) and those in the ‘State of Arunachal’ or ‘Arunachal Pradesh’ were still free from external rule at the time of Britain’s departure from South Asia. They were recognized as such by His Majesty’s Government. British forces reached some of these lands as early as the 1910s. However, there was no regular contact between them until the middle of 1930s. Britain’s Foreign Department came to refer to these lands (this part of Nagalim and the rest of present Arunachal state) commonly as the “North East Frontier Tracts”.




    





    1946 To work out terms of relationship once the British withdraw: The first all Naga political organisation, the Naga National Council (NNC), was set up. As part of the arrangement for the transfer of power, Britain brought the Dominion Government of India and the Naga National Council [NNC] to work out their terms of relationship once the British withdraw.




    





    1947 On 20 February 1947 NNC submitted a proposal for Interim Government in Nagalim with India as the Guardian Power for ten years. On 26 the June 1947, the Interim Government of India and the NNC reached The Nine Points Agreement. The Agreement envisaged a Protected State in Nagalim under NNC with India as the Guardian Power for ten years at the end of which NNC will be asked to renew or to make a new agreement.




    Gandhi declared…Nagas had every right to be independent of India: The Indian Constituent Assembly, through a process of mental acrobatics, arrived at the conclusion, that the Nine Points Agreement was merely ‘district autonomy within the Indian Constitution’ and began preparations to occupy Nagalim by force. When this was brought to Gandhi’s attention on 19 July 1947, Gandhi declared that the Nagas had every right to be independent of India if they choose to do so. Further, he declared that he would oppose with his life if India decides to take Nagalim by force.




    Nagalim declared Independent: NNC announced its decision to declare Nagalim “independent” on 14 August 1947 and communicated it to UNO, Britain, the Interim Government of India, and the Commonwealth Relations Office. As the newly independent India adopted a belligerent attitude toward the declaration of independence by the Nagas, Britain decided to adopt a policy of “wait and see”.




    





    1948 Indian police in Manipur made summery arrest and detention of many Nagas including Daiho Mao, a prominent elder, who were peacefully blockading an entry point to Nagaland from India. The police repression was justified on false claims of facing ‘incitement by Communist agitators, or the danger of Burmese Communist infiltrating Assam,’ and India used the occasion to build up its military on the Assam-Nagaland border to invade Nagalim. “…With regard to Calcutta Weekly Report No. 34…about the unrest among the Nagas and the danger of Burmese Communist infiltrating Assam, Sir Akbar Hydari arrived in Delhi recently and press for release of new military equipment to forces in the Assam area”.




    





    1951 May 16, 1951 Plebiscite: Condemning NNC as “the voice of the misguided”, India imprisoned many more Naga elders without trial. Undeterred, Nagas continued their peaceful protest and asked India to ascertain the decision of the majority of the people in a plebiscite. India rejected it. NNC notified India; they decided to conduct the plebiscite on 16 May 1951 to clear any possible doubt. The result of the plebiscite, as admitted by B.N. Mullik, the then Chief of the Indian Intelligence set up, was 99.9% for Naga independence and none for joining India.




    India refused to respect the out come of the Plebiscite. Instead, India sought to destroy by force the material and spiritual basis of the Naga people’s independence and imposed military rule over Nagalim from 1955. NNC set up the Federal Government of Nagaland in March 1956 with a military wing to drive out the Indian forces. In the next three months Naga army drove out the Indian forces from Nagalim barring a few points. India brought in more than a hundred thousand troops in re-enforcement and occupied Nagalim. The occupation army rounded up ten of thousands of Nagas in 59 concentration camps where many perished from water contamination and lack of food.




    





    1952 Boycotted Indian elections




    In 1952 with heavy military presence, the first Indian general election was imposed on the Nagas. In spite of the military threat, Nagas successfully boycotted the election.




    





    1953 Indian Prime minister, Nehru brought the Burmese Prime minister, U Nu to Kohima and began the process of dividing Nagalim between the two countries. Human right abuses committed by Indian armed forces became rampant as they “searched the villages” for NNC elders who were by then branded “secessionists”.




    





    1956 Nagas organized to drive oust Indian forces: NNC set up the Federal Government of Nagaland on 22 March with a military wing. India placed “Naga Hills district in Assam” under the Military rule on 2 April. Within fours of its formation, Naga Army drove out Indian forces from Nagalim barring a few points. India brought in large re-enforcement. Before the year end, there was “nearly one security troop for every adult male Naga in the Naga Hills”, says B.N. Mullik.




    Indian Government faced severe criticism in the Parliament (Lok Sabha) for its failure to honour the Nine Points Agreement of 1947 and for the war in the Naga Hills. In response, Pandit Nehru, the Prime Minister said, “I do not accept his statement that the agreement has not been honoured. That agreement came up before the Constituent Assembly, or rather before the Special Committee of the Constituent Assembly. All the six Schedules attached to the Constitution were largely drawn up with that agreement in view…the whole object was to give autonomy to their areas and help them to live according to their own ways. If it is felt that the six Schedules do not go far enough, it is open to Parliament to amend them whenever it likes”, during debate on the Naga Hills situation in the Lok Sabha, 23 August, 1956.




    





    1958 Indian Parliament passes the Armed Forces Special Powers Act 1958 – a re-incarnation of the much dreaded Armed Force Special Powers Ordinance 1942 of the British era. The Act provides the Indian Armed forces legal immunity to “shoot to Kill” on mere suspicion, to enter, search, arrest and detain without. Having destroyed most of the Naga villages and killed close to one hundred thousand Nagas, and rounded up thousands in 59 concentration camps built across the Naga Hills, India announced “amnesty” and asked NNC to accept “administrative autonomy”. Though reeling from the impact of massive destruction of life and means of subsistence, Nagas rejected it.




    





    1960 in an attempt to divide Nagas, India conferred statehood (the existing State of Nagaland) on a small portion of Nagaland under its Foreign Ministry.




    





    1963 The Indian State admitted to the aerial bombing of suspected guerrilla locations, of “Strategic hamletting” and “groupings” in which villages are forcibly relocated.




    





    1964 Cease-fire and political negotiation: At the intervention of Bertrand Russell and Rev. Michael Scott [an old friend of Gandhi] in 1964 India agreed to a cease-fire for peace talks. After several rounds of unproductive talks in 1966, Mr. R. Suissa, a member of the Tatar Hoho (member of Parliament of the Naga Nation), forwarded a proposal to the NNC which he had thoroughly discussed with the Prime Minister of India Mrs. Indira Gandhi. In the succeeding round of talk of Mrs. Gandhi, the Indian Prime Minister, conveyed her willingness to negotiate a Bhutan type status for Nagalim as a separate entity. But NNC rejected the offer and the talks broke off without result in




    





    1967 Some leaders left the Federal Government of Nagaland and formed the “Revolution Military Government” with Indian support. It got dissolved in less than two years time and their members became Indian employees.




    In NEFA, India launched an all out attempt to inculcate Indian nationalism by converting the people to Hinduism. The Hindu organization in charge of the programme was given 99 years logging lease of the timber rich NEFA forests to generate fund for the work. In addition to the heavy deployment of India army in the villages, Hindus from central India were brought in as teachers and administrators and introduced Hinduism in the school as a basic subject. However, teaching of Christianity was strictly prohibited in NEFA as “foreign religion”. This included prohibition of Christian parents narrating Bible stories to their children or observing Christian burial. Access to education facilities was denied to Christian children and their elders were discriminated in employment. State apparatus was used freely to destroy Christian institutions and to persecute Christians. To fully legalize this practice a ‘Private Bill” entitled “freedom of religion” was moved in the Indian Parliament in 1978. But the Indian middle class saw it, as a threat to the “secular” character of the Indian State and the bill was thrown out. It also led to slackening of the “program to indigenise Hinduism in NEFA”.




    





    1972 The international boundary between India and Burma was officially drawn. In doing so they divided the Naga people between two nations. In some cases the border runs through villages and houses. NNC and its government were declared as “Unlawful”. The affairs of Nagaland State” was transferred from the Ministry of External Affairs to the Ministry of Home Affairs in an effort to project the Naga struggle for political rights as a “law and order problem”.




    





    1975 India imposed the Shillong Accord on some of the Federal Government leaders. The Accord states that the Nagas leaders accept the Indian Constitution on their volition, will hand over their arms, and will formulate Naga problem for discussion in future. A people suffering from war exhaustion greeted the Shillong Accord with silent contempt. The National Assembly convened by the General Secretary of NNC, Th. Muivah 15-17 August 1976 at Suphao (in Eastern Naga Hills-Burma) rejected it as “the work of traitors”. However, NNC President, A.Z. Phizo and several other NNC elders, kept silent. This enabled the opportunist elements to join the surrendered leaders to organize, in collaboration with India, a vigilante force, in various names, like NNC, or Federal Army, or Peoples Militia of Nagaland,…The ground was left wide open for a bloody showdown between these forces and the National Resistance Forces.
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